IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSIS

BY:

ris Harris Chris Harris,

WCCF P. O. Drawer 958 Louisville, MS 39339

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-01360-COA

# CHRISTOPHER LASHAWN HARRIS

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

۷

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned Appellant, Christopher Harris, certifies that the following listed persons have an interested in the outcome of this case. The representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Christopher Harris, Appellant pro se.
- 2. Honorable Jim Hood, and staff, Attorney General.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Α.

The Court committed plain error by failure to include in the record a factual basis of the plea, and Christopher Harris was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Harris of the right to appeal the imposed sentence to the Supreme Court.

Β.

Appellant Harris was denied due process of law where he was convicted of the offense in amended indictment, which the element of the indictment was amended by the court without going back before a grand jury to determine the additional amount of drugs, making his guilty plea involuntary and Sentence illegal.

C.

The indictment was faulty where it failed to set forth the judicial district in which the indictment is brought as required by Rule 7.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice. The indictment was the charging instrument in this case as the instrument in which jurisdiction was established where such indictment was faulty and void and thereby failed to invoke jurisdiction.

Christopher Harris was denied his sixth Amendment Right to effective Assistance of Counsel where defense counsel failed to bring out the issues stated herein where, if raised, there would have been a different result.

### FACTUAL MATTERS

The state filed an indictment against Appellant which charged that on January 6, 2006, Appellant willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously and knowingly possessed greater that 1 gram but less than 10 grams of cocaine. Appellant was indicted as a Habitual Offender subjected to enhanced punishment.

On April 17th, 2006, the said indictment was amended on the same date Appellant accepted the plea, without my knowledge that the indictment had been amended changing the element of the indictment to show that Appellant possessed 2 grams but less than 10 grams of cocaine, and deleted the habitual status by striking the second conviction of August 1, 2003.

The indictment filed against Appellant to make the change did not set out or state the judicial district in which the offense was alleged to have occurred.

Upon information and belief, Appellant would state that upon entering plea of guilty the trial court never inquired into whether Appellant knew about the right to appeal the sentence imposed upon a first offender to the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi. Had Appellant been made aware of the right to appeal the sentence Appellant would have.

Upon information and belief, the trial court never asked Appellant personally whether Appellant actually possessed the changed amount in the amended indictment.. This element was a part of the indictment which charged me with such offense. To Appellant's knowledge and belief no factual basis was admitted nor demonstrated for the plea to the indictment.

Upon information and belief, Appellant hereby assert that the trial court never actually advised Appellant that he had a limited right to appeal the sentence directly to the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi.

### v.

# MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT

Appellant Harris was denied due process of law where he was convicted of the offense in the amended indictment, which the element of the indictment was amended by the court without going back before a grand jury to determine the additional amount of drugs, making his guilty plea involuntary and Sentence illegal.

Appellant was given notice of the charge with possession of greater than .1 gram but less than 2 grams of cocaine in the element of the indictment. His indictment, unknowingly to him was amended by the state, with the consent of the defense counsel, to show an amount of cocaine possessed greater that 2 grams but less than 10 grams cocaine, and his counsel failed to reveal the change to him before entering a plea of guilty. Such plea of guilty was made without Harris fully knowledge of the changed elements of the charge without proof that it went before a grand jury, and without the trial court making aware the enhanced penalty that he was facing.

The record clearly demonstrates that during the plea colloquy Harris did not admit to the required elements of law which must be admitted before a plea of guilty may be accepted. There was no admission by Harris that he knowingly possessed greater than 2 grams or less than 10 grams cocaine as a factual basis for the plea. according to the law the trial court never made a factual basis for the plea. The plea were not voluntary under these circumstances.

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In <u>Corley v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." <u>See</u>, e.g., Davis v. State, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions <sup>1</sup> raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); <u>Watts v. Lucas</u>, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); <u>Ball v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); <u>Tiller v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While the Mississippi Supreme Court specified "Inmates at the Mississippi State Penitentiary", it is clear that this decision would apply to any inmate confined within or without the State of Mississippi who has been subjected to a Mississippi conviction and sentence which they desire to attack collaterally.

The trial court failed to find a factual basis for the plea of guilty and it was therefore involuntary as a matter of law.

Harris would claim here that his guilty plea was involuntary and was entered after being ill advised by his counsel. A plea of guilty is not binding upon a criminal defendant unless it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. <u>Myers v. State, 583 So.2d</u> <u>174, 177</u> (Miss. 1991). A plea is viewed as voluntary and intelligent when the defendant is not informed of the charges against him and the consequences of his plea. <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992). A defendant must be told that a guilty plea involves a waiver of the right to a trial by jury, the right to confront adverse witnesses, and the right to protection against self incrimination. <u>Boykin v.</u> <u>Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238, 243, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969).

See also <u>Hannah v. State</u>, 2004-Ct-00725-S.Ct (Miss. 7-20-2006), where the court explained:

I. VOLUNTARINESS OF HANNAH'S GUILTY PLEA

"Mississippi Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 8.04(3) regulates the entry of guilty pleas: Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntary and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception, or improper inducements. A showing that the plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the record."

Appellant Harris's plea of guilty was involuntary where he had been given notice of an indictment by the grand jury showing that he was in possession of cocaine in amount greater .1 gram but less than 2 grams which he had agreed to enter a plea of guilty. Unknowingly to the defendant and without prior notice, the District Attorney with knowledge of the defense attorney moved the court for an amendment of the indictment. The court arbitrarily and capriciously amend the indictment's element correcting the amount of cocaine possessed by striking "greater than .1 gram but less than 2 grams" and inserting "grater that 2 grams but less than 10 grams", and "continue the defendant's status as a second drug offender which enhances the penalty by deleting the habitual status by striking the defendant's second conviction of August 1, 2003. See Exhibit "A". This was done without knowledge of the defendant. Harris is a victim of mental coercion by and through his counsel with counsel's sole intentions as being to withhold crucial information from appellant concerning the amendment of the elements of the indictment without going back before the grand jury for a determination of the amount drug to be charged for enhancement purposes."

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In <u>Corley v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." See, e.g., <u>Brown v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at the Mississippi State Penitentiary raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the

duration of confinement. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); <u>Watts v. Lucas</u>, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); <u>Ball v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); <u>Tiller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 440 So.2d 1001) 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

In <u>Neal v. State</u>, 936 So.2d 463 (Miss.App. 2006), a recent case handed down by the Supreme Court that reversed this case, saying:

ISSUE 3: Involuntary Plea ¶ 15. "Neal argues that he was not informed of the elements of the crimes. As a matter of federal constitutional law, a guilty plea is valid only if it is entered "voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences." Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 125 S.Ct. 2398, 2405, (2005) (quoting Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970)). ¶ 26. The objective of this constitutional standard is to satisfy the due process requirement that a defendant receive "real notice of the true nature of the charge against him." Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 618 (1998) (quoting Smith v. O'Grady, 312 U.S. 329, 334 (1941)). The trial court accepting a guilty plea is responsible for assuring that a defendant entering a guilty plea actually understands the nature and elements of the crime for which a defendant is admitting guilt. A requirement for this objective to be met and therefore for a guilty plea to be valid, is that a defendant is informed of the elements of the crime. Stumpf, 125 S.Ct. at 2405 . A court accepting a guilty plea does not need to explain the crime's elements to the defendant on the record but can satisfy this constitutional prerequisite by other means, such as counsel's representing to the court that the elements of a crime have been explained to the defendant. Stumpf, 125 S.Ct. at 2405."

In Smith v. States, 636 So.2d 1220 (Miss. 1994), the court stated:

"It is possible that a defective guilty plea transcript may be rehabilitated and cured by evidence adduced in a post-conviction hearing. See <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 618 So.2d 103 (Miss. 1993); <u>Horton v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 764, 768 (Miss. 1991). For that reason, judgment of the circuit court should be reversed and the cause remanded for an evidentiary hearing on all issues. "

The court should grant an evidentiary hearing on this issue to determine whether Harris was involuntarily entered in according rule 8.04.

### VI.

# PETITIONER WAS DEPRIVED OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHERE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ADVISE OF HIS RIGHT TO APPEAL THE SENTENCE

The Court committed plain error by failure to include in the record a factual basis of the plea, and Christopher Harris was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Harris of the right to directly appeal the imposed sentence to the Supreme Court.

The trial court failed to advise Christopher Harris that he had the right to appeal the actions of the Court in the sentence it arrived at in regards to the plea. Even upon a plea of guilty the law would allow Harris a direct appeal of the sentence imposed. The trial court judge made fundamental error where it failed to advise Harris of this avenue of review of the sentence in regards to the plea of guilty. The law is clear that a defendant who pleads guilty has a right to a directly appeal the sentence to the Supreme Court. Trotter v. State, 554 So. 2d 313, 86 A.L.R.4th 327 (Miss. 1989).

On August 3, 1987, a sentencing hearing was held. After a full hearing in which <u>Trotter</u> contested the imposition of sentence, Trotter was sentenced to serve two years on each of the two burglary charges, the sentences to run concurrently. From that sentence, <u>Trotter</u> appeals, claiming that the delay of more than four years in sentencing him violated his fifth amendment right to due process and his sixth amendment right to a speedy trial. He also claims that the delay in sentencing violated certain provisions of the Mississippi Constitution, as well as Rule 6.01 of the Mississippi Uniform Rules of Circuit Court Practice. A preliminary point needs to be addressed. The State contends that this appeal should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction because Trotter pleaded guilty to the charges against him. The State cites Miss. Code Ann. § 99-35-101 (1972), which states: Any person convicted of an offense in a circuit court may appeal to the supreme court, provided, however, an appeal from the circuit court to the supreme court shall not be allowed in any case where the defendant enters a plea of guilty. In Burns v. State, 344 So.2d 1189 (Miss. 1977), this Court implied that an appeal from a sentence imposed pursuant to a guilty plea is not equivalent to an appeal from the guilty plea itself. In Burns, an appeal from denial of a habeas corpus petition challenging the legality of a sentence imposed subsequent to a guilty plea was treated by this Court as a direct appeal. While the Court acknowledged the language of §99-35-101, the Court stated: "[W]e do not deem the present case as an appeal from a guilty plea." Burns, 344 So.2d at 1190.

Although Harris' guilty plea may have automatically waived his right to appeal the conviction itself, it was not explained to Harris that he had the right to appeal the

sentence of the court and the terms of such sentence. During the guilty plea hearing, the court failed to demonstrate in the record that Harris knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to appeal his sentence. <u>United States v. Robinson</u>, 187 F.3d 516 (5th Cir. 1999). In Robinson, the Fifth Circuit stated:

> "Although a defendant may waive his right to appeal as part of a plea agreement with the government, this waiver must be "informed and voluntary."

<u>United States v. Baty</u>, 980 F.2d 977, 978 (5th Cir. 1992) (quoting <u>United States v.</u> Melanco, 972 F.2d 566, 567 (5th Cir. 1992).

This court must vacate the judgment and hold an evidentiary hearing on whether appellant was in fact denied the right to appeal his sentence.

#### VII.

### FAILURE TO CITE JUDICIAL DISTRICT

The indictment was faulty where it failed to set forth the judicial district in which the indictment is brought as required by Rule 7.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice. The indictment was the charging instrument in this case as the instrument in which jurisdiction was established where such indictment was faulty and void and thereby failed to invoke jurisdiction.

Rule 7.06 (4), Miss. Unif. Rules of Circuit and County Court Pro. requires that the indictment set out the county and judicial district in which the indictment is brought. In the instant case the indictment sets out the county in which the Petitioner was indicted in but fails to state any judicial district or court whatsoever. Generally, the Rule set

the requirements a following:

## RULE 7.06 INDICTMENTS

The indictment upon which the defendant is to be tried shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation. Formal and technical words are not necessary in an indictment, if the offense can be substantially described without them. An indictment shall also include the following:

1. The name of the accused;

2. The date on which the indictment was filed in court;

3. A statement that the prosecution is brought in the name and by the authority of the State of Mississippi;

4. The county and **judicial district** in which the indictment is brought;

5. The date and, if applicable, the time at which the offense was alleged to have been committed. Failure to state the correct date shall not render the indictment insufficient;

6. The signature of the foreman of the grand jury issuing it; and

7. The words "against the peace and dignity of the state." The court on motion of the defendant may strike from the indictment any surplusage, including unnecessary allegations or aliases. (Amended effective August 26, 1999.)

The indictment upon which the defendant is to be tried shall be a plain, concise

and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged

and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation. Formal

and technical words are not necessary in an indictment, if the offense can be

substantially described without them. An indictment shall also include the following:

Rule 7.06, which was promulgated by the Supreme Court, requires that the

"indictment shall also include the following:

# "The County and judicial district in which the indictment is brought;"

See subsection "4" above. Appellant would assert that without this language being in the indictment, the indictment is faulty and the Court is without jurisdiction to proceed.

"Finally, because an indictment unlike a bill of information, cannot be amended, the failure to allege each element is fatal." See <u>United States v. Garrett</u>, 984 F.2d 1402, 1415 (5th Cir. 1985).

In the Sixth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution, its let you know how

importance the failure to make known of the Judicial District of the whereabout the

alleged was committed. It has to be previously ascertained by law before the County

court to claim jurisdiction over the case before the court. The Sixth Amendment states:

Amendment VI. Rights of the accused.

In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district <u>shall</u> have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and caused of the accusation, to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.

The judicial district must be previously ascertained by law, in order that the

County or Circuit Court would know that they have jurisdiction over the indictment

before the court. Usually, it is fix somewhere in the face of the Indictment which also

indicate the county which the crime was allegedly committed. So the district where

the crime is committed that shall be ascertained by law is not just the law, but it is

constitutional law. Since the judicial district is made part of the element of the

indictment, which has to be proved by the State, it is fatal error that cannot be

amended

by the state. It has to be dismissed.

This court should find that where the indictment was faulty in it's attempt to acquire jurisdiction then the conviction and sentence imposed there under should be void and null. This Court should so find and should issue and order dismissing the conviction and sentence without prejudice.

#### ۷.

### **INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL**

Christopher Harris was denied his sixth Amendment Right to effective Assistance of Counsel where defense counsel failed to bring out the issues stated herein where, if raised, there would have been a different result.

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