CC PY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHRISTOPHER LASHAWN HARRIS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CP-1360-COA

FILED

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FEB 1 3 2008

APPELLEE

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The posture of Harris's post-conviction complaints is controlled largely by the following decision recently handed down by the Court of Appeals: Jenkins v. State, No. 2007-CP-00768-COA decided January 15, 2008 [Not Yet Reported].

The fact-finding made by the circuit judge was neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong.

First, the guilty plea transcript reflects a factual basis for Harris's plea of guilty to the possession of cocaine in the quantity charged. (C.P. at 46-47)

During the plea-qualification hearing defense counsel represented to the trial judge that the

elements of the crime had been explained to Harris. (C.P. at 46)

BY THE COURT: Did you also explain to [Harris] the elements of the crime to which he's pleading guilty?

BY MR. BURDINE: Yes sir, I did.

BY THE COURT: Did he give you any indication or reason to believe that he did not understand his rights or the elements of this crime.

BY MR. BURDINE: No, he did not Judge Howard. (C.P. at 16)

Second, Judge Howard's advice to Harris that "[t]here is no appeal if you plead guilty" was correct by virtue of Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-101. Harris's right to appeal the sentence imposed in the wake of a guilty plea, as opposed to the plea itself, is not a consequence of the guilty plea about which a defendant must be informed.

Third, the amendment to the indictment altering the quantity of the cocaine possessed was one of form as opposed to substance and did not require re-submission of the case to the Grand Jury. The amount of cocaine in Harris's possession was not an essential element of the crime charged. *Cf.* **Elliott v. State,** 939 So.2d 824 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006); **Hammond v. State,** 938 So.2d 375 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006); **Carroll v. State,** 755 So.2d 483 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

In any event, any defect created by amending the indictment was non-jurisdictional in nature and waived by Harris's voluntary plea of guilty. Moreover, the amendment made the day of Harris's plea of guilty was a part and parcel of a plea bargain agreement which was acknowledged by Harris with a full awareness of both the amendment and the agreement. The latter allowed Harris to be sentenced as a regular offender as opposed to an habitual offender. (C.P. at 43) *Fourth*, Oktibbeha County has only one (1) judicial district. Accordingly, Harris's claim the indictment was defective for failing to set forth the judicial district in which it was brought is way off base. Even if not, the defect would have been waived by a plea of guilty because it also is non-jurisdictional in nature.

Fifth, Harris was not denied the effective assistance of counsel because counsel's representation was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Harris. Harris has failed to identify any defenses or facts that would have altered the outcome of his plea or trial in the event of trial.

A plea of guilty is binding only if it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. **Myers v. State**, 583 So.2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991). A plea of guilty is voluntary and intelligent when the defendant is informed of the charges against him and the consequences of his guilty plea. **Alexander v. State**, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992).

Harris was more than adequately advised of the rights he was waiving or giving up by pleading guilty as well as the minimum and maximum sentence. (C.P. at 32-33. 44-45)

In paragraph 13. of his petition to enter plea of guilty, Harris expressed complete satisfaction with the advice and help given by his lawyer. (C.P. at 33)

In paragraph 14. of the petition to enter plea of guilty, Harris told Judge Howard the following:

"I committed the offense as alledged [sic] in the indictment." (C.P. at 34)

On page 47 of the plea transcript Harris told the judge, face to face, he was guilty of possessing cocaine as amended in an amount more than 2 grams but less than 10 grams. (C.P. at 47)

6

It is quite clear there are material contradictions between what Harris swore to then and there, *viz.*, satisfaction with his lawyer and a voluntary plea, and what he claims here and now, *viz.*, dissatisfaction with his lawyer and an uninformed plea.

When a defendant's claims on a motion to withdraw guilty plea are in contradiction with the guilty plea record, the trial judge, as Judge Howard apparently did here, is entitled to rely heavily on the record of the proceedings. **Bilbo v. State**, 881 So.2d 966 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004); **Richardson v. State**, 769 So.2d 230 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). *Cf.* **Taylor v. State**, 682 So.2d 359, 364 (Miss. 1996); **Sherrod v. State**, 784 So.2d 256 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001).

Harris's pleas were both knowing and voluntary.

Harris's indictment, in both its original and amended form, was neither defective nor infirm; rather, it properly charged Harris with possession of cocaine. (C.P. at 30, 36)

Harris's voluntary plea of guilty also waived all non-jurisdictional defects in his criminal indictment.

Also waived was Harris's right to have the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, including the right to present any defense(s) he might have had to the charges. **Bishop v. State**, 812 So.2d 934, 945 (Miss. 2002); **Anderson v. State**, 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991); **Jefferson v. State**, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989); **Taylor v. State**, 766 So.2d 830, 835 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000).

Harris was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during his guilty pleas because counsel's performance, contrary to Harris's position, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency prejudice Harris. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Williams v. State, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); Reynolds v. State, 736 So.2d 500

(Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Counsel cannot be faulted for failing to object to an indictment that was not defective.

Harris has failed to demonstrate that but for counsel's alleged sins of omission or commission, he would not have entered his plea of guilty or else the jury would have found him innocent had he gone to trial, i.e., the result would have been different.

In short, Harris has failed to establish by a "preponderance of the evidence" he was

entitled to any relief. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7); McClendon v. State, 539 So.2d 1375

(Miss. 1989); Todd v. State, 873 So.2d 1040 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

ARGUMENT

THE RECORD, CONSTRUED IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO HARRIS, REFLECTS HARRIS, IN FACT, ENTERED VOLUNTARY PLEAS OF GUILTY TO THE POSSESSION OF COCAINE.

HARRIS'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL IS MATERIALLY CONTRADICTED BY THE GUILTY PLEA RECORD. HARRIS HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT AND THAT THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED HIS DEFENSE.

THE INDICTMENT WAS NOT DEFECTIVE. NEVERTHELESS, BY PLEADING GUILTY HARRIS WAIVED ANY NON-JURISDICTIONAL DEFECTS IN THE INDICTMENT.

HARRIS'S VOLUNTARY PLEA OF GUILTY OPERATED TO WAIVE AND/OR FORFEIT HIS RIGHT TO ASSAIL IN A POST-CONVICTION ENVIRONMENT ALL NON- JURISDICTIONAL RIGHTS OR DEFECTS INCIDENT TO TRIAL, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO HAVE THE STATE PROVE EACH ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, AND THE RIGHT TO PRESENT ANY DEFENSES TO THE CHARGE.

THE FACT-FINDING MADE BY THE CIRCUIT JUDGE FOLLOWING HIS REVIEW OF HARRIS'S PETITION AND THE RECORD OF HIS PLEA WAS NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS NOR MANIFESTLY WRONG.

Harris has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence" he is entitled to any relief. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7); McClendon v. State, 539 So.2d 1375 (Miss. 1989); Todd v. State, 873 So.2d 1040 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

Defective Indictment.

Harris complained in his motion for post-conviction relief, and he claims on appeal as well, that his indictment was defective because it was improperly amended and because it failed to set forth the judicial district in which is was brought.

First, the amendment as to the quantity of cocaine possessed by Harris was one of form as opposed to substance and did not need the approval of the Grand Jury. The amount of cocaine possessed is not an essential element of the crime of cocaine possession

Second, any defect was non-jurisdictional in nature and was waived by Harris's failure to object and his voluntary plea of guilty.

Third, Oktibbeha County has only one judicial district. Even if not, any defect in failing to set forth the judicial district was non-jurisdictional and also waived by Harris's voluntary plea of guilty.

Judge Howard found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law that Harris's "... indictment was not faulty as it listed that the indictment was brought in the Circuit Court of Oktibbeha County" and the indictment "... was first verbally, then in writing, amended to correct the amount of controlled substance that the Petitioner possessed and also to strike the Petitioner's second conviction to allow him to be sentenced as a second-time offender instead of a habitual offender as part of a plea bargain agreement.

Finally, Judge Howard found as a fact that Harris answered affirmatively when asked if he understood he was now charged with possession of more than two grams of cocaine but less than ten grams as a second drug offender.

These findings of fact were neither clearly erroneous nor manifestly wrong.

Harris's indictment, in neither its original nor amended form, was flawed one whit.

Moreover, assuming his pleas were voluntary, Harris, by pleading guilty, waived his right

to challenge the indictment as well as the evidence.

In Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989), the Supreme Court opined:

We are concerned here with the legal effect of Jefferson's two 1981 guilty pleas. The institution of the guilty plea is well established in our criminal justice process. A guilty plea operates to waive the defendant's privilege against selfincrimination/2, the right to confront and cross-examine the prosecution's witnesses/3, the right to a jury trial/4 and the right that the prosecution prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt./5

Outside the constitutional realm, the law is settled that with only two exceptions, the entry of a knowing and voluntary guilty plea waives all other defects or insufficiencies in the indictment. [citations omitted] A defendant's right to claim that he is not the person named in the indictment may be waived if not timely asserted. *Anselmo v. State*, 312 So.2d 712 (Miss. 1975). The principle exception to the general rule is that the failure of the indictment to charge a criminal offense or, more specifically, to charge an essential element of a criminal offense, is not waived. *See Durr v. State*, 446 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Miss. 1984); *Maxie v. State*, 330 So.2d 277, 278 (Miss. 1976). And, of course, a guilty plea does not waive subject matter jurisdiction. [Text of notes 2-5 omitted; emphasis supplied]]

We find in Anderson v. State, 577 So.2d 390, 391 (Miss. 1991), the following language

also applicable to Harris's complaint:

Moreover, we have recognized that a valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial. *Ellzey v. State*, 196 So.2d 889, 892 (Miss. 1967). We have generally included in this class "those [rights] secured by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, as well as those comparable rights secured by Sections 14 and 26, Article 3, of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890." *Sanders v. State*, 440 So.2d 278, 283 (Miss. 1983); *see also Jefferson v. State*, 556 So.2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1989). We take this opportunity to specifically include in that class of waivable or forfeitable rights the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin.

This view is in accord with that of our sister states. [citations omitted]

This rule also prevails in the federal arena. [citations omitted; emphasis ours]

Stated differently, Harris's voluntary plea of guilty waived and forfeited all rights and non-jurisdictional defects incident to trial, including the right to a trial by jury, the right to subpoena and call witnesses in his own behalf, the right to a fast and speedy public trial, and the right to assail all technical and non-jurisdictional defects found in an indictment or information. **Drennan v. State**, 695 So.2d 581 (Miss. 1997); **Luckett v. State**, 582 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1991); **Anderson v. State**, *supra*, 577 So.2d 390 (Miss. 1991); **Elliott v. State**, 939 So.2d 824 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006).

Involuntary Plea.

Harris argues his plea was involuntary because Judge Howard failed to advise him he could appeal the sentence imposed. This complaint is without merit because Harris's right to appeal any illegal sentence, much like parole information, is not a consequence of the plea about which a defendant must be informed. *Cf.* **Smith v. State**, 919 So.2d 989 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005).

Judge Howard's advice to Harris that "[t]here is no appeal if you plead guilty" was correct by virtue of Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-101.

Harris argues the record fails to reflect a factual basis for his guilty plea and complains

he was not informed of the elements of the offense. We disagree.

BY THE COURT: Did you also explain to [Harris] the elements of the crime to which he's pleading guilty?

BY MR. BURDINE: Yes sir, I did.

BY THE COURT: Did he give you any indication or reason to believe that he did not understand his rights or the elements of this crime.

BY MR. BURDINE: No, he did not Judge Howard. (C.P. at 16)

* * * * * *

Q. [BY THE COURT:] The indictment alleges that on or about October the 15^{th} of 2005 in Oktibbeha County, you possessed cocaine as amended that's an amount more than two grams but less than ten grams. Are you guilty of doing that? (C.P. at 47)

A. [BY HARRIS:] Yes, sir.

In order to satisfy constitutional prerequisites, "...[a] court accepting a guilty plea does

not need to explain the crime's elements to the defendant on the record but can satisfy this

constitutional prerequisite by other means, such as counsel's representing to the court that the elements of a crime have been explained to the defendant." Neal v. State, 936 So.2d 463, 470 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006) citing Bradshaw v. Stumpf, 545 U.S. 175, 125 S.Ct. 2398, 2405, 162 L.Ed.2d 143 (2005). *See also* Garner v. State, 944 So.2d 934, 941 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006) ["The trial court may assure itself that the accused understands the elements of the crime charged by explaining the elements to the accused or by counsel's representation to the court that the elements of the crime have been explained to the accused."] Such is precisely what occurred here.

As for a factual basis, we also rely heavily on Harris's acknowledgment in paragraph 14. of Harris's petition to enter plea of guilty as follows: "I committed the offense as alledged [sic] in the indictment." (C.P. at 34) Harris, we note, acknowledged he was fully aware of the amendment as to the quantity of cocaine possessed. (C.P. at 43)

The petition to enter plea of guilty was signed by Harris under the trustworthiness of the official oath and with full knowledge that willfully swearing falsely to any material matter under any oath was punishable by imprisonment for 10 years. (C.P. at 34)

The petition reflects in paragraph 15. Harris's acknowledgment, in plain and ordinary, English that his plea was freely and voluntarily given. (C.P. at 34)

These acknowledgments have got to stand for something. This is especially true where, as here, the circuit judge, in denying post-conviction relief, was entitled to give great weight to Harris's petition to enter plea of guilty and the certificate of his lawyer. *See* McKenzie v. State, 856 So.2d 344, 351 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003).

Each of Harris's claims are materially contradicted by the petition to enter plea of guilty

as well as by testimony and acknowledgments made at the time of plea qualification.

In Richardson v. State, 769 So.2d at 230 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000), the Court of Appeals,

citing Roland v. State, 666 So.2d 747, 751 (Miss. 1995),

"... concluded that an evidentiary hearing is not necessary if the record of the plea hearing reflects that the defendant was advised of the rights which he now claims he was not aware. *Id.* When the record of the plea hearing belies the defendant's claims, an evidentiary hearing is not required. If the defendant's claims are totally contradicted by the record, the trial judge may rely heavily on the statements made under oath. *Simpson v. State*, 678 So.2d 712, 716 (Miss. 1996). In *Mowdy v. State*, 638 So.2d 738, 743 (Miss. 1994), the court stated: "Where the petitioner's version is belied by previous sworn testimony, for example, as to render his affidavit a sham we will allow summary judgment to stand.***"

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